.-ﬁ- Earth Negotiations Bulleti ﬁ

A Reportl ng SerV| ce for EnV| ronment and Devel opment Negotlatlons

Vol. 4 No. 127

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Monday, 14 December 1998

SUMMARY OF THE SECOND CONFERENCE OF
THE PARTIESTO THE CONVENTION TO
COMBAT DESERTIFICATION
30 NOVEMBER - 11 DECEMBER 1998

Delegatesto the Second Conference of the Parties (COP-2) to the
UN Convention to Combat Desertification (CCD) met in Dakar,
Senegal, from 30 November to 11 December 1998. The Committee on
Science and Technology (CST) met in parallel tothe COPon1to 4
December. Delegates approved arrangementsfor the institutional
linkage between the Convention and the UN Secretariat and the head-
quarters agreement with the Government of Germany, wherethe
Secretariat is scheduled to movein early 1999. The COP approved
adjustmentsto its budget and adopted the outstanding rules of proce-
dure concerning bureau members, but retained bracketed language
regarding majority voting absent consensus. Eastern and Central

national and subregional/regional action programmes by national
governmentsin cooperation with donors, local populationsand NGOs
The purpose of using aninnovative "bottom-up™ approach, by
involving peoplewho are affected by desertification in decision-
making, isto facilitate effective implementation of the Convention.
NEGOTIATION OF THE CONVENTION: In 1992, the UN
General Assembly, asrequested by the United Nations Conference or
Environment and Development (UNCED), adopted Resolution 47/
188 calling for the establishment of the Intergovernmental Negotiatini
Committee for the elaboration of aninternational convention to
combat desertification in those countries experiencing serious drouglr
and/or desertification, particularly in Africa(INCD). At the organiza
tional session of the INCD in January 1993, del egates elected Bo
Kjellén (Sweden) as Chair of the Committee. The INCD met five
times between May 1993 and June 1994, during which delegates
drafted the Convention and four regional annexes for Africa, Asia,

European countries were invited to submit to COP-3 adraft regional Latin American and the Caribbean, and the Northern Mediterr

implementation annex.

The CST established an ad hoc panel to follow-upitsdiscussion on
links between traditional and modern knowledge. Delegates consid-
ered, but deferred to COP-3, decisions on the Secretariat’s medium-
term strategy, adoption of the Memorandum of Understanding
between the COP and IFAD regarding the Global Mechanism, and the
G-77/Chinaproposal to establish a Committee on the Review of the
Implementation of the Convention. Del egates expressed pleasurewith

anea

The Convention was adopted on 17 June 1994, along with reseluti
recommending urgent action for Africa and interim arrangements f
the period between adoption of the CCD and its entry into force.
THE INTERIM PERIOD: Pending the CCD's entry into force,
the INCD met six times between January 1995 and August 1997 tc
hear progress reports on urgent action taking place in Africa and
interim measures in other regions, and to prepare for COP-1. The
preparations included discussion of issues such as the Secretariat

the CST'sdiscussion on traditional knowledge, aswell aswith an
informal discussion on experienceimplementing NAPsand NGO INTHISISSUE
dialogues on thesetwo issues. Insightsinto the COP'sand CST's
ability totrandatedeliberationsinto action will havetowait, however; A Brief Hi fthe C . 1
late-starts on both the UNEP-led survey and eval uation of existing rief History of the Convention. ..................¢.
networks and the operation of the Global Mechanism, called for by
COP-1, precluded substantive discussions on thesefirst fruits of the Reportof COP-2 ...} 2
CST'sand COP's deliberations. Plenary Deliberations . ...................... ..2
Committee oftheWhole . ... .................. 4
A BRIEFHISTORY OF THE CONVENTION Committee on Science and Technology. . ........ ..8
The Convent|0n to Combat Desert|f| Canon was adopted onl7 |I’lterpar|lamental’y Round Ta.ble .................. 9
June 1994 and was opened for signaturein October 1994 in Paris. Informal Exchange of Views on NAPs ........... 10
Three monthsfollowing the receipt of itsfiftieth ratification, the ClosingPlenary........... ...y .10
Convention entered into force on 26 December 1996. As of 22
October 1998, 144 countries had ratified or acceded to the CCD. ABrief Analysisof COP-2. ... .......... ... i 11
The Convention recognizes: the physical, biological and socio-
economic aspects of desertification; theimportance of redirecting Things to Look For Before COP-3.................. 12
technology transfer so that it is demand-driven; and theinvolvement
of local populations. The core of the CCD isthe development of
Thisissue of the Earth NegotiationsBulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Changbo Bai <changbo.bai@gte.net>, Angela Churie <churie@I.kth.se>, Tiffany Prat
<tprather@iisd.org>and Lynn Wagner, Ph.D. <lynn@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and th&Nitgmegihgngston James "Kimo" Gorge
VI <kimo@iisd.org>. Digital engineering by Andrei Henry <ahenry@iisd.ca>. Logistics by Molly Rosenman <mrosenman@iisd.chrdfrglation by Mongi Gadhoum
<Mongi.Gadhoum@enb.intl.tn>. The Sustaining Donors oBthiketin are the Netherlands Ministry for Development Cooperation, the Government of Canada (through CIDA
and the United States (through USAID). General Support fduHetin during 1998 is provided by the United Kingdom Department for International Development (DFID), the
German Federal Ministry of Environment (BMU) and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation (BMZ), the DanigtoMinigign Affairs, the Swiss Office
for Environment, Forests and Landscape, the European Community (DG-XI), the Ministries of Environment and Foreign Affeiia,adh&winistries of Foreign Affairs and
Environment of Finland, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, the Government of Sweden, the UnitsdD¢agopment Programme (UNDP), the
Global Environment Facility (GEF) and the Ministry for the Environment in IcelandEditih NegotiationsBulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel; +1-
212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. 1ISD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue EastMthipEmrManitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada. The
opinions expressed in ttgarth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of [ISD and other funders. ExcerptEartin the
Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. Electronic versidbdlefithare sent to e-mail
distribution lists <http://iisd.ca/enb/email.asp> and can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/lliespellite image was taken above Dakars © /998
The Living Earth, Inc. http://livingearth.com. For information onaeth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Monday, 14 December 1998

Vol. 4 No. 127 Page 2

programme and budget, the functions of and administrative arrange-
mentsfor the Global M echanism, the physical location of the Perma-
nent Secretariat and the establishment of the Committee on Science
and Technology (CST). Although considerabl e progress was made,
especialy on scientific and technol ogical cooperation, someimportant
issues remained unresolved at the end of thelast session of the INCD.
The size and membership of the COP Bureau wereleft for COP-1to
decide, aswere questions about the host institutions and some func-
tions of the Globa Mechanism.

THE FIRST CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES: TheFirst
Conference of the Parties (COP-1) to the CCD met in Rome, Italy,
from 29 September to 10 October 1997. The CST held itsfirst session
simultaneously on 2-3 October. One hundred and two States submitted
their instruments of ratification by the requisite date and parti cipated
as Partiesto the Convention. The COP-1 and CST-1 agendas contained
primarily organizational matters. Del egates selected Bonn, Germany,
asthelocation for the Permanent Secretariat and the International
Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) asthe organization to
administer the Global Mechanism. At the CST’s recommendation, the
COP established an ad hoc panel to oversee the continuation of the
process of surveying benchmarks and indicators and decided that CST-
2would consider linkages between traditional knowledge and modern
technology. One Plenary meeting was devoted to adial ogue between
NGOs and del egates on building partnershipswithin the CCD. Argen-
tina’s proposal that Plenary meetings at future COPs be devoted to
similar NGO dialogues was al so adopted. While most del egates were
pleased with the two-week session, they looked forward to COP-2
where they would delve into more substantiveissuesrelated to
combating desertification.

REPORT OF COP-2

The Second Conference of the Partiesto the Convention to Combat
Desertification began with an opening ceremony on Monday morning,
30 November 1998. Abdou Diouf, President of the Republic of
Senegal, welcomed participants and thanked them for convening
COP-2in Senegal, on Sahelian soil. He highlighted the problems
desertification posesto Africaand Senegal in particular, aswell as
actionstaken to combat this phenomenon at al levels. He suggested
that the COP, in moving toward its operational phase, consider how to
coordinate activities under the CCD, the Convention on Biological
Diversity (CBD) and the UN Framework Convention on Climate
Change (FCCC), and arrive at the precise definition of theroleand
operational procedures of the Global Mechanism.

During the opening Plenary on Monday afternoon, del egates
elected Souty Touré, Senegal's Minister of Environment and Prote

tion of Nature, as COP-2 President. He said this meeting should ena
participants to have an in-depth exchange of views on implementation

and institutional arrangements. UN Under-Secretary-General for

Economic and Social Affairs Nitin Desai, on behalf of UN Secretarys

General Kofi Annan, highlighted three ways in which the CCD exe
plifies and follows-up on Rio: it shows how environmental and dev
opment objectives can be served in the same framework; it reflec

3
Rio partnership between developed and developing countries; an LS and called on them to provide financial and institutional

recognizes the interaction between sectoral and among cross-sec

themes. CCD Executive Secretary Hama Arba Diallo introduced th

documents prepared for COP-2 and reported on recent meetings
workshops, including an interregional forum. He stressed the imp
tance of focal points and national coordinating bodies, noting that
recent reports indicate that the weakness of focal points is a reaso

experiences with National Action Programmes (NAPs) took place on
December. On 7 December, parliamentarians from 21 countries
convened an Interparliamentary Round Table on the contribution the
can make to the implementation of the Convention. A Special
Segment, during which ministers, high-level governmental officials
and representatives from intergovernmental organizations addresse
the ways and means to implement the CCD, took place on 8 and 9
December. The following report separates the deliberations into thre
sections: Plenary deliberations, the COW and the CST. The COW ar
CST reports are organized around delegates' discussions on the CO
decisions.

PLENARY DELIBERATIONS

PROCEDURAL AND ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS: On
30 November, the COP President introduced the provisional agenda
(ICCD/COP(2)/1) for adoption. The EU proposed adding reference
an "exchange of views" in connection with the review of CCD imple-
mentation. Benin, on behalf of the African Group, noted that a specic
segment was scheduled to discuss implementation. Following const
tations, delegates agreed to discuss the issue at the expert level anc
the Special Segment and adopted the agenda. Delegates agreed to
establish a COW, which Benin said woulddoéhoc until a decision
was taken to form a subsidiary body of the COP on matters relating t
implementation of the Convention.

Delegates then adopted the agenda of the CST (ICCD/COP(2)/
CST/1) and nominated members of the Bureau. The African Group
nominated Tunisia and Chad and said Senegal would have a double
role as President and Bureau member. The Asian Group nominated
Saudi Arabia and Jordan. The Western Europe and Others Group
nominated Belgium and Canada. The East European Group nomina
Armenia and Azerbaijan. The Latin American and Caribbean Group
nominated Antigua and Barbuda and Argentina. Mohammad Reza
Jabbari (Iran) was elected to chair the CST. The nominations exceec
the nine bureau members allowed by the rules of procedure. Followir
informal consultations on Tuesday, 1 December, delegates acceptec
nine nominations for Vice-Presidents of the Bureau: John Ashe
(Antigua and Barbuda), Maria Julia Alsogaray (Argentina), Jafarov
Ogtay (Azerbaijan), Samvel Baloyan (Armenia), Marc Gedopt
(Belgium), Olivier Jalbert (Canada), Abdelmajid Khabour (Jordan),
Ali Saad Altokhais (Saudi Arabia) and Hatem Ben Salem (Tunisia).
Marc Gedopt was selected to Chair the COW and Samvel Baloyan w
selected to serve as Rapporteur.

On 1 December, delegates accredited the IGOs and NGOs listed
ICCD/COP(2)/12. They accorded observer status to additional interr
tional organizations, as proposed in ICCD/COP(2)/12/Add.1, on
?’gpay, 4 December.

STATEMENTSBY PARTIESAND OBSERVERS: Parties and
observers offered statements in several Plenary meetings over the
ourse of COP-2. During the opening Plenary, Indonesia, on behalf «
1e G-77/China, called for the elaboration of national, regional and

e'slybregional programmes and stressed the need to establish and ope

ﬂ%onal coordinating units as soon as possible to facilitate implemer
dtion. He expressed concern over the lack of enthusiasm of some p.

assistance. He regretted that the Global Mechanism did not commer
rations on 1 January 1998, as decided at COP-1. He hoped that

Oa?gP-Z would take decisive action in the establishment of a committe
or

eview the implementation of the Convention and its institutional
rgngements.

i

delay in implementation. He emphasized that the Secretariat would, Austria, on behalf of the EU, underscored the importance of coor;

continue to work with Parties during the implementation phase.
During the following two weeks, delegates met in Plenary, the
Committee of the Whole (COW) and its three informal negotiating
groups and the CST to discuss the COP's agenda items and possi
draft decisions. The Committee on Science and Technology (CST)

from 1 to 4 December. Delegates dialogued with NGOs during half
day COW sessions on 3 and 10 December. An informal discussion

dination between donors and affected countries and said a coordinati
tool that reflects the intentions of all partners will reduce duplication o
work and assure a precise definition of respective tasks. He noted th
important relationship and benefits of coordinating efforts between

rtification, water, climate change and biodiversity. He called for
further elaboration of the Secretariat's role and a clear division of lab
bs;iween the Global Mechanism and the Secretariat.



Voal. 4 No. 127 Page 3

Monday, 14 December 1998

Canada, on behalf of JUSCANZ, promised its support and cooper-
ation at COP-2. Ecuador, on behalf of GRULAC, highlighted its
Regiona Action Programme (RAP), which hasled to the establish-
ment of aregional coordination unit and aregional information
network. He expressed concern over theimbalancein budget distribu-
tion among the regionsand representation on the Secretariat. MasseL o
(ENDA), on behalf of the NGO community, said the scheduled
dialogues between NGOs and the COP indicate Parties' commitment
to partnership and anew challenge for NGOs. He expressed concern
with the delaysin operating the Global Mechanism, asked participants
to consider opportunities presented by the Global Environment
Facility (GEF), particularly sincethe Global Mechanismisnot fully
operational. He emphasized civil society’simportant rolein the
creation and implementation of NAPsat all levelsand welcomed the
establishment of an NGO office within the Convention Secretariat.

In other Plenary statements, Argentinaemphasized the need for a
strong and efficient Secretariat with clear functionsthat are different
but coordinated with those of the Global M echanism, and called for a
balancein the budget among theregions. Israel called attention to the
establishment of an information center that will produce real-time
interpreted satellite images of drylandsin the Middle East, Asiaand
Africa. The Russian Federation, supported by Armeniaand Azer-
baijan, called for progress on the definition of afifth regional imple-
mentation annex. Azerbaijan said increased desertification has
resulted from the warsin Eastern Europe. Romaniaannounced that it
hasratified the CCD and begun working onitsNAP. Syriahighlighted
activities undertaken nationally and regionally to combat desertifica
tion. Japan called attention to the fact that it became aParty on 10
December 1998 and called on the US and other non-Partiesto
conclude the process of accession to Party status.

STATEMENTSBY INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS:
A number of representatives from international organizationsalso
addressed the COP Plenary. The Ramsar Convention said many

mation; facilitating regional cooperation; the participation of civil
society; assisting in synergyzing Conventions; and securing GEF
financing. The World Bank highlighted efforts on land degradation and
management and said internal procedures ensure that environmental
and social concerns are represented in its activities. He noted collabo-
rative efforts as an implementing agency of the GEF and said the
FCCC might make soil projects eligible as Clean Development Mech-
anism projects.

SPECIAL SEGMENT: The Special Segment convened on
Tuesday and Wednesday, 8 and 9 December, during which 82 speaker
addressed the ways and means to implement the CCD. The speakers’
listincluded 18 ministers, 56 governmental officials and eight interna-
tional organization representatives. Delegates addressed a wide range
of issues that generally focused on the following areas: issues related
to accession to CCD; CCD institutional issues; international coopera-
tion and developed country action; and national activities under their
NAPs and priority issues.

Several delegates highlighted issues related to accession to the
CCD. The Russian Federation and several Eastern and Central Euro-
pean countries supported a fifth implementation annex to the CCD,
which they believed would accelerate some countries’ accession to the
Convention. The Republic of Korea will submit the CCD to its
national assembly in the coming year for consideration. Bangladesh
called for countries that have not yet done so to accede to the CCD, in
particular donor countries. The US expressed its hope that it will
participate as a Party at COP-3.

Speakers also discussed CCD institutional issues. For example,
Argentina called for the definition of instruments to facilitate the
Global Mechanism and called for commitment to sustain technical and
financial support to the CST. The G-77/China, the Gambia, Egypt,
Botswana and Peru, among others, underlined the necessity for the
Global Mechanism’s operationalization in 1999. and called for coun-
tries to provide resources to achieve this. The G-77/China said a strong

wetlands can be found in the world’s arid zones and encouraged c®¥cretariat is the essential and key machinery for implementation.
dinating related activities at the national and international levels. Hauritania said the CCD Secretariat must be given the freedom to
highlighted the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) that has beefiplement its responsibilities. Germany indicated it has done its share
prepared for the Ramsar and CCD Secretariats. Noting its Memo- to ensure the timely operation of the Permanent Secretariat in January
randum of Cooperation (MOC) with the CCD, the Convention on 1999, Kazakstan commended the Secretariat's work on benchmarks
Biological Diversity (CBD) stressed the importance of cooperation &nd indicators and expressed an interest in testing the methodology.
reduce the burdens and optimize the limited resources of Parties amde EU said the CST should provide usable advice, develop a struc-
the Conventions. She highlighted the interdependence of loss of biegled work programme and complement related work undertaken by
versity, deforesjtatlon, soil degradatlon and desertification and notegther bodies. The US said the COP, CST and Global Mechanism
that drylands will be examined at CBD COP-5. should work together and focus on identifying and channeling

The League of Arab States described the efforts of the Arab Cergsources to those most in need.
for Studies of Arid Zones and Drylands (ACSAD) to contain the Burkina Faso and others supported establishing a committee to
effects of drought and desertification as well as to rehabilitate deseféview implementation. Italy, supported by Cape Verde, Angola and
arid areas. He underscored the need for cooperation and participatitiers, called for a mandate of Dakar that would lead to a protocol with
of the local population and NGOs in implementing the CCD. The  specific commitments by COP-4. Cape Verde suggested naming 2000
Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGAD) described  the world Year of Desertification to promote public awareness.
various activities, including a feasibility study on the establishment of |niernational cooperation and developed country action were also
a subregional facilitation fund to identify financial resources and  stressed. Tunisia noted that the socio-economic consequences of
establish an accessible financial reservoir and a study on the involygssertification transcend borders, making it a global concern.
ment of the private sector in the implementation of the CCD. The  Myanmar and Chad called for international financial and technical
World Meteorological Organization (WMO) called on the COP to  sypport to facilitate affected developing countries’ projects against
include in its agenda mechanisms for cooperation between the CClpysertification.
CBD and Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), and ~ o £ said it would continue to be a major source of financing for

improvement of systematic observation systems. FAQ is developingaccp . will seek to make resource use more efficient and help the
programme of action that focuses on: assistance in implementatiolghy,»| pechanism mobilize resources. France appealed to bilateral
NAPs; technical support of networks on desertification; the preparag d:multilateral donors to increase funds for combating desertification

tion and dissemination of best technical practices; the establishmegﬂ called for more efficient use of resources. Sweden outlined a six-
an information system to assist decision-making; and technical sup T : hi ; ;

: . ' process for building operational partnerships, starting with a
to the bodies of the CCD. UNESCO said an MOU between UNESG(dii1 5 preparation process in affected countries. The UK said it is

and the CCD Secretariat is currently being formulated to provide aincreasing its development assistance over the coming years and

E?\I”ées"é%k agreedmfn(} for joint activities, in paguculzti.r those within oc04nizes the need to raise its citizens' awareness of the CCD's objec
S mandated programme aréas on education, SCIence anf s~ penmark discussed its continuous support to affected devel-
culture. UNEP highlighted ways it could assist the Parties in

combating desertification, including: assessment and environmental
reporting; the gathering and exchange of scientific and technical infor-



Monday, 14 December 1998 e Earth NegotiationsBulletin Vol. 4 No. 127 Page 4

oping countries and called for the international donor community’s conventions, and annexes on arbitration and conciliation procedures
further cooperation. Several speakers called for GEF financing of Regional and interest groups tabled draft texts that served as the ba:
CCD-related projects. for negotiations on the COP’s decisions.

Several international organizations discussed ways through whichMarc Gedopt (Belgium) served as its Chair. David Johansson
they could facilitate implementation. The GEF said its Council has (Finland), Harold Acemah (Uganda) and John Ashe (Antigua and
stipulated that its operational strategy should include land degradaBarbuda) chaired informal consultations on legal issues, CCD imple-
as an integral part of its activities. A new GEF initiative, "dialogue mentation and budget and programme of work for 1999, respectively
workshops," will offer workshops on project identification, how to Mame Balla Sy (Senegal) held informal consultations on the MOU
access GEF resources and the GEF project cycle. UNDP said it witbetween the COP and IFAD and Giorgio Franchetti Pardo (Italy)
strengthen its actions in areas including building capacity, strengtheonducted consultations on outstanding rules of procedure.

ening country offices’ support to CCD implementation, facilitating the OQUTSTANDING RULESOF PROCEDURE: On Wednesday, 2
sharing of experience and promoting the GEF's dryland portfolio. December, the COW considered the outstanding rules of procedure.
UNEP said it could offer the CCD support based on four main areaggfP-1 adopted the rules of procedure subject to bracketed text in
expertise: GEF projects; assessment, evaluation and awareness pral 22(1), 31 (composition of the Bureau) and 47(1) (majority
tion; synergies with other conventions; and regional coordination required absent consensus). Discussions on these outstanding rules
through its six regional offices. The FAO can support implementatigqOpP-2, contained in document ICCD/COP(1)/11/Add.1, resulted in ¢
by, inter alia, acting as a mediator and technical assistant in supporigdolution regarding the composition of the Bureau. On the issue of
NAPs and through the identification and dissemination of best pragnajority voting, which has proven difficult for other conventions,
tices. UNCTAD can play a role biyter alia, providing information  particularly the FCCC, the COP transmitted revised bracketed
about preferential trade arrangements to ensure their better utilizatigtiguage to COP-3 for further consultation.
The FCCC suggested coordinating with the CCD on logistics and  Regarding the composition of the Bureau, the G-77/China said
administrative arrangements. He called for an integrated scientific payties should pay particular attention to equitable geographical dist
vision and said he relied on strengthened UNEP capacities to achigygion and adequate representation of affected country Parties, parti
this. He also hoped to relaunch the integration of national reports |arly those in Africa, and favored removing an additional reference to
within the three Rio conventions. o _ representation based on the implementation annexes. JUSCANZ
Speakers also indicated various activities under their NAPs anchgreed that affected country Parties should be adequately represent
outlined priority issues. Algeria’s efforts include the monitoring andin the Bureau and said the current non-bracketed text already reflect
remote sensing of sensitive regions. Concerns of Niger’s grassrootiis. He said Rules 22(1) and 31 mirror and should remain consisten
actors include their lack of alternative sources of energy to firewoodgsith CCD Article 22(6). He further stated that the annexes did not
El Salvador said natural catastrophes must remind Parties of their correspond with the regional groups of the UN system and this addi-
commitment to protect the environment and noted activities in the tional language would introduce rigidity and complicate elections.
framework of regional cooperation in Latin America. Tanzania's ~ Spain said he did not intend to part from the UN groupings, nor did ht
national experience indicates the importance of political willingnesstend to provide permanent positions, but stated that adding a refer-
and strong mechanisms for awareness raising, harmonized crossagitce to annex countries was logical given the structure of the CCD
ting activities, technical support and clear elaboration of partnershigince they have assumed special obligations under the Convention.
arrangements, and reliable and sustainable financial arrangements. Regarding Rule 47(1), the G-77/China said that, absent consens
Sudan noted that participatory approaches were central to nationatq which Parties should always strive, a “simple majority vote” and nc
activities to combat desertification and called on donors to supportg “yyo-thirds majority vote” should be permitted. JUSCANZ
these efforts. o _ o supported consensus decisions on key matters, particularly financial
Participants at Uganda's first national forum identified the _ After informal consultations, the COP adopted text for Rules 22(1
following priorities: information exchange, capacity development, sgilq 31. In both rules, after "due regard shall be paid to the need to
and water conservation and management, alternative energy souregggyre equitable geographic distribution and adequate representatic
development of appropriate technologies and institutional support.qof affected country Parties, particularly those in Africa," the COP
Madagascar presented an overview of its three-phase national ENViiiided to insert "while not neglecting affected country Parties in othe
mental action plan. South Africa underscored women’s vital role in regions." Regarding Rule 47(1), the COP added “a simple majority
implementing the CCD. Priority areas for Botswana’s NAPiater,  yote” in brackets to the bracketed option “two-thirds majority vote.”
alia: poverty alleviation and community empowerment; partnershiprhe COP retained intact a bracketed exception for decisions pertaini
building and networking between stakeholders; education and techg Articles 21 and 22(2)(g) (financial mechanisms and programme ar
nology development; and strengthening capacity for research and budget), which would be taken by consensus only.

information. The Annex IV countries called forter alia: cooperation DESIGNATION OF A PERMANENT SECRETARIAT AND

between the CCD Secretariat and EU agencies on pilot projects; AARRANGEMENTSEOR ITSEUNCTIONING: At the outset of
network to monitor desertification at the national and Mediterraneagu—S )
&R

. i : o . i Fussions on this issue on Thursday, 3 December, which were bas
basin scale; the identification, elaboration and use of a common seytocments ICCD/COP(2)/9 and ICCD/COP(2)/8, Corr.1, Add.1
impact indicators; and the sharing of traditional knowledge. Israel nd Add.2, Executive Secretary Diallo noted that in December 1997,

suggested exploring ways to exploit the drylands’ advantages, suc, it ;
solar energy. Jamaica, Tuvalu and the Cook Islands highlighted th%&hg%N General Assembly approved the institutional linkage betweer

i . . CD Secretariat and the UN. He also noted Decision 3/COP.1,
needs of the South Pacific region and small island States and requg\ﬁ? mirrors FCCC arrangements, accepting the offer for the UN to
attention by the Secretariat. .

provide the administrative and support arrangements for the Conver
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE tion Secretariat during the period of this linkage.

At the first Plenary meeting, on 30 November, the COP establishedPiallo and Germany highlighted that the headquarters agreemen
a COW to consider outstanding issues for adoption by the COP. THagned with the German Government on 18 August 1998 has identic
CcOoOwW began its deliberations on Wednesday, 2 December, and meterms to that of the FCCC Secretariat. Diallo said ratification by the
nine times. The COW's agenda included the outstanding rules of German Parliament should take place in early 1999, but added that t
procedure, designation of a Permanent Secretariat, programme aritecessary minimum conditions for adoption by the COP had been
budget, review of implementation of budget, report of the Global achieved. Germany said it had forwarded DM2 million to the Secre-

Mechanism, promotion and strengthening of relationships with othériat as part of the agreement and promised to pay its contribution tc
the Secretariat's core budget in January 1999.



Voal. 4 No. 127 Page 5

Monday, 14 December 1998

The COP adopted the headquarters agreement of the Permanent
Secretariat, which approves the agreement subject to itsratification by
the Federal Republic of Germany. The decision also notesthat
Germany hasissued an ordinance, which became effective on 23
October 1998, implementing major parts of the agreement under
German law, and that three articles of the agreement requireratifica-
tion. Germany requested that the COP-2 Plenary report reflect that the
agreement will most likely beratified by early 1999 and that it
providesfor the equal treatment of the Secretariats of the CCD and
FCCC.

PROGRAMM E AND BUDGET: Discussions on the programme
and budget on Thursday, 3 December, were based on documents
ICCD/COP(2)/2 and 3. Diallo said expenditure of the supplementary
and special fundsfor 1999 suggest areduction of 10% of the proposals
outlined at COP-1. Eighty-two percent of the supplementary fund
would be concentrated on facilitation, external relations and public
information programmes. The special fund would support the partici-
pation of affected countriesat the COP and at sessions of itssubsidiary
bodies.

Delegates discussed at length the adjustmentsto the budget to
accommodate new Parties, the financing of coordination unitsand
support for the coordination of the Rio Conventions, the contribution
of the host government and the scal e of contributions. The Secretariat
noted the availability of an updated scale of contributions and said 20
of the 32 core staff will relocate to Bonn. She noted the experimental
basis of thefinancing fromthe UN Secretariat dueto concerns
expressed over the possible use of the fundsto offset the contributions
of member States and said support to the regional level wasdrawn
from the supplementary funds and not the core budget. The EU
proposed continuing discussions on the proposed budgetary adjust-
mentsin asmaller group.

Following deliberationsin the contact group, del egates reached
agreement on adjustmentsto the Convention budget and programme
for 1999. Among its provisions are: approval of therevised core
budget for 1999 amounting to US$6.1 million; approval of thecreation
of anew trust fund for the special annual contribution fromthe
German Government; arequest to the Executive Secretary to submit at
COP-3 aproposed programme budget for 2000/2001; and adoption of
anindicative scale of contributions by Partiesto the general fund of the

while there are many actors, they too are limited by their mandates. He
said that, where the Secretariat could contribute to facilitating the
process, it should do so.

After deliberations in the non-group on implementation, the COW
drafted a decision requesting the Executive Secretary to elaborate a
new document and inviting Parties to make submissions on the issue
by 30 April 1999. The COP noted the suggestion by the G-77/China to
include in the compendium the comments, suggestions and proposals
expressed at COP-2 as well as the medium-term strategy document of
the Secretariat, and adopted the decision.

PROGRAMME OF WORK AT COP-3 AND COP-4: During
their discussion on Friday, 4 December, on the COP’s programme of
work, delegates cautioned against overloading the COP agenda and
stressed the need to harmonize and distribute the documentation in
time. The G-77/China expressed concern over the limited time for
African countries to prepare their reports for COP-3 and appealed for
assistance to facilitate their timely completion. Some suggested defer-
ring the arbitration and conciliation issues to COP-5.

The decision on the programme of work for COP-3 and COP-4
indicates that COP-3 will considénter alia: implementation reports
from Africa; the Global Mechanism modalities and activities; the
promotion and strengthening of relationships with other conventions;
procedures and institutional mechanisms for the resolution of ques-
tions on implementation; and arbitration and conciliation procedures.
COP-4 will review the implementation reports and Regional Action
Programmes (RAPs) and Subregional Action Programmes (SRAPS) of
affected countries other than in Africa. The decisions on the
programme of work were adopted without amendment.

REVIEW OF IMPLEMENTATION OF THE CONVEN-
TION,AND OF ITSINSTITUTIONAL ARRANGEMENTS,
INCLUDING SUPPORT TO REGIONAL PROGRAMMES:

Initial discussions on these issues, which took place on Wednesday, 2
December, were based on document ICCD/COP(2)/5, which contains
information on activities undertaken at national, regional and subre-
gional levels. The G-77/China said experiences in the interim phase
highlight issues to be elaborated, including the need to: streamline the
strategic planning framework for affected country Parties; encourage
closer cooperation between multilateral agencies and donors at the
country level; channel resources directly to the local level; and struc-

Convention. The COP adopted the text as well as the Secretariat'sture the level of financial support that may be expected by an affected
notes on the review of the situation as regards extrabudgetary fundsimtry over a programme’s life-cycle. The EU underlined the impor-

1998.
MEDIUM-TERM STRATEGY: On Friday, 4 December, the

tance of the Convention in the context of sustainable development and
underscored the importance of NAPs and the institutional framework

COW considered the Secretariat's medium-term strategy (ICCD/ in which they are set.
COP(2)/6), which was the Secretariat's proactive attempt to synergizeSeveral partners stressed concentration of efforts on the national

conventions. The G-77/China supported the Secretariat's strategy and local levels based on national priorities and their integration at the
proposals for future action and said the document should be used asuthegional and regional levels. The need to ensure that the concerns
basis for future discussion. The EU and JUSCANZ did not supporté@ressed at the COP are adequately reflected in bilateral and multilat
document as a basis for further discussion, stating that it suggestedmindiscussions on priorities for assistance was emphasized. The
operational role for the Secretariat. They stressed that the Secretag@dsissions highlighted the role of NGOs and local populations in
intended to play a facilitating and coordinating role for Parties, andcombating desertification. Burkina Faso said the understanding of
should not conflict with the roles of the Global Mechanism, CST angartnership would remain problematic as long as donors continue to
specialized agencies involved in combating desertification. The G-git their assistance in the framework of traditional assistance to coun-
China stressed that the Secretariat's mandate should not be limitedries. The US said any review of implementation and determination of
solely to the provisions of Article 23 and that he interpreted the EU &l need for additional institutional structures internal to the Conven-
JUSCANZ positions as a non-objective and restrictive interpretatiofion must include a review of activities of all existing institutions
of the Secretariat's strategy. internal and external to the Convention. Several countries stressed the
Concern was expressed that these were attempts to reduce themportance of elaborating a fifth regional implementation annex to the
Secretariat to its lowest common denominator, which would tend taConvention and said informal consultations will be finalized once the
confirm that the CCD was a “poor relation” of the other Rio Conveneountries concerned accede to Party status.
tions. The NGO community noted that the Secretariat has a role to playrhese issues were considered further in the non-groups on imple-
in ensuring that NGOs and civil society are involved in implementamentation and legal matters. Regional and interest groups tabled draft
tion of the Convention at all levels, which requires the Secretariat tgexts and the COW produced decisions on the following four issues:
have the necessary means for operating a strong NGO liaison offio@gfional implementation annexes and interregional programmes and
facilitate activities at all levels. Executive Secretary Diallo noted thgfiatforms of cooperation; regional cooperation between countries of
Eastern and Central Europe; procedures for the communication of
information and review of implementation; and review of implementa-



Monday, 14 December 1998 e Earth NegotiationsBulletin Vol. 4 No. 127 Page 6

tion of the Convention. The decision on regional implementation Discussions on these reports stressed the need to operationalize
annexeswelcomes the launching of RAPs, encourages affected devel-  Global Mechanism, noting the failure to start operations on 1 Januar
oping country Partiesto pursuethe formulation and implementationof 1998, as scheduleDelegates noted the need to set priorities for the

activitiesfor interregional implementation, requeststhe Executive Global Mechanism in accordance with the CCD and stressed the net
Secretary to facilitate assistance for the effectiveand efficientimple-  for a clear and distinct division of labor between the Global Mecha-
mentation of RAPs, and calls on theinternational community to nism and the Secretariat. The NGO community called for the elaborz
support RAPs and SRAPs. tion of NGO involvement in the Global Mechanism. The EU outlined
During adoption in the Plenary, the EU said she appreciated the fthree prerequisite_s for suc_qessful operation of the Global Mechan_isn
efforts undertaken by the Parties to the regional annexesto intensify including: conducive conditions for full ownership and responsibility

their cooperation inimplementing the CCD. However, shewishedto ~ of developing country Parties; consideration of the experiences of th
have the report of the meeting reflect the EU’s view that, while the Consultative Group on Desertification Control between 1978-88; anc
COP had taken useful further steps to strengthen regional cooperatiggignation of CCD, UNDP, bilateral and multilateral donor focal
the facilitating role of the Executive Secretary should not lead to th@oints as Global Mechanism contact points. He stressed prioritizing
creation of new institutional structures, highlighting the regional coggrtnership building at all levels, provision of advice on innovative
dinating units. The G-77/China also wished to have the report refleihancial mechanisms, identification of CCD technology financing
that they supported the Secretariat’s initiatives to facilitate implemeg@urces, development of a Global Mechanism database for the estal
tation of the regional annexes and regional cooperation. GRULAC lishment of a baseline for future performance and a joint Global Mecl
requested the Secretariat to redouble and strengthen its activities idnism/Secretariat web site for awareness services.

support of national, regional and subregional activities in all regions The discussion on the MOU between the COP and IFAD was
and that more resources be allocated in a balanced manner for all deferred to the non-group on legal issues whereas the report on the
regions to combat desertification. Global Mechanism was deliberated in the implementation non-groug

The decision on regional cooperation between countries of Easlér COP adopted two draft decisions. The decision on the review of
and Central Europe urges observer countries from Eastern and Celfigblobal Mechanism: notes with concern that the Global Mechanis
Europe to take steps to become Parties, takes note of informal congigl-not start operating on 1 January 1998, as indicated in decision 24
tations aimed at producing an additional regional implementation COP.1; requests IFAD to pursue modalities of collaboration between
annex to the Convention and invites the countries to submit a draftitéglf and the NGO community as well as with other interested organ
consideration by COP-3. zations; requests the Global Mechanism to establish a consultative &

The decision on procedures for the communication of informatiég/!laborative process with NGOs as well as with the private sector;
and review of implementation calls on interested organizations to "€duests cooperation between the Global Mechanism and the Conve
provide technical and financial support to assist affected African  tion Secretariat to avoid duplication and enhance the effectiveness o

country Parties in the compilation and communication of informatidaCD implementation; notes the financial support provided on a volui

to be submitted to COP-3 as well as identify the technical and finant38Y basis and reiterates its appeal to governments, all interested org

needs associated with action programmes. nizations and the private sector to make promptly further voluntary
The decision entitled “Review of Implementation of the ConvenSommitments necessary to support the activities; and decides to unc

tion” notes that additional time was needed to consider establishinPX€ at COP-3 the first review of the policies, operational modalities
mechanism to assist in the regular review of implementation of the2'd activities of the Global Mechanism and take appropriate action c
Convention. Itinvites Parties to make submissions regarding this i jppasis. )

to the Secretariat by 30 April 1999 for compilation and consideration € non-group on legal issues agreed to text that deferred the de
by COP-3. The decision also requests the Secretariat to include de}2n on the MOU between the CCD COP and IFAD to COP-3. During
sion 10/COP.1, which calls on COP-3 to consider whether to establfa closing Plenary, Canada, on behalf of the OECD group of coun-
a mechanism to assist in regularly reviewing implementation, in thdles, explained that whereas his group was pleased with the decisiol
COP-3 agenda. The decision also transmits to COP-3 the draft de@ the MOU, they were disappointed by the inability to adopt the
sion proposed by the G-77/China at COP-2, which calls for the estafQU between the COP and IFAD. He said that group could accept tt

lishment of a Committee on the Review of the Implementation of thOU with the following amendments: all references to "agreements’
Convention. and "agree" should be replaced with "MOU" and "understand;" the

GLOBAL MECHANISM: Debate on this issue, which began o ord "shall” should be replaced with "will;" and the phrase "entry intc

II\:/lriday, 4 DSpemtber, fgCILlésAeg on replclJrts Iaomh/fg%%mtbal Mﬁﬁhagg%ga Sﬁgﬁ&g?ﬁg Fl)\Llac():LedeV\cl)lltJrl]d ggt%lrr;é%tcl);) ﬁg&ﬁg}g.ml—:gsfglrdmtg%tdwnl
anaging Director an D, as well as the MOU between the ] ! : !

T e Esomity e AL gt e C TRt Dprenedaatrgel e

,Add.1, .1 and 2). The report on the Global Mechani » WU

Director two months ago. Per Ryden, Managing Director, said he hga ions with IFAD. The statements were noted and the decision

grouped the Global Mechanism’s tasks into eight operational activi: dopted '

ties, including partnership building, channeling and matchmaking, 240P®€d.

developing a database, identifying innovative techniques, and Thde_ decr:smn %n It_h_e MOld bgtv\_/e_en the CCD COP an? lEAI(DSI bal

marketing and communicating the Global Mechanism as the frame€9arding the modalities and administrative operations of the Globa

work for addressing land degradation issues. He said it would takeMechanism decides to transmit to COP-3 the draft decision ICCD/

itratiod ! mpact, gvenTis IMite \ou (Iccp/coP(2)/4/Add. 1), and calis on those to whom the draft

Speaking on behalf of IFAD, Bahman Mansuri stressed the Fun QU is addressed to act, pending its entry into operation, “as if it welr

continued support to the CCD and commitment, as the housing insB ady there.”

tion of the Global Mechanism, to make Global Mechanism operations PROMOTION AND STRENGTHENING OF REL'_A‘T.' ON-
effective. He reported on the establishment of a Facilitation SHIPSWITH OTHER RELEVANT CONVENTIONS: Discus-
Committee, which is a collaborative arrangement between IFAD, Sions on this topic, which took place on Tuesday, 8 December, were

UNDP and the World Bank and has now expanded to include the dg&5€d on document ICCD/COP(2)/7 on collaboration with other
Secretariat, the GEF and other regional banks. conventions. Delegates underscored the need to enhance and

strengthen cooperative activities between conventions and called fol



Voal. 4 No. 127 Page 7

Monday, 14 December 1998

actionsto make the recommendations outlined at the five-year
UNCED review areality, avoid duplication and increase efficiency.
They noted that issues regarding institutional cooperation arestill
under the General Assembly’s consideration. Delegates al so suggested
additional issuesfor inclusion in the document. Egypt proposed
including terms of referencefor financial cooperation between the
GEF and IFAD. India stressed the importance of preserving biodiver-
sity through the CCD and said the patenting issue and itsrelated
importancein terms of the WTO agreement should bereflected in the
document. Iceland noted the tendency under the FCCC to limit discus-
sionson sinksto forestry activities and supported including, in the
scientific and technical linkages section, restoration of degraded lands
that would serve the objectives of both the FCCC and CCD. The Secre-
tariat said improved coordination and synergiesat thefield level would
be reflected in future endeavors.

The decision adopted by COP-2 requests the Secretariat to imple-
ment document | CCD/COP(2)/7, in consul tation with other relevant
secretariats, and to develop an MOU to define their collaboration and
cooperation. It also requests the Executive Secretary, in preparing
documentsfor the COP, to seek the views of and inputsfrom relevant
convention secretariats, aswell asfrom relevant organizations.

RESOLUTION OF QUESTIONS: ANNEXESON ARBITRA-
TION AND CONCILIATION PROCEDURES: On Tuesday, 8
December, in considering theissue of procedures and institutional
mechani smsto resol ve questions on implementation and an annex on
arbitration and conciliation procedures, based on | CCD/COP(2)/10,
the Secretariat noted that the adoption of annexeswould require an
amendment to the Convention, asoutlined in CCD Article 30. Dele-
gates agreed that, compared with the FCCC, which hasrecently
decided to establish amultilateral consultative process, the CCD isa
young Convention and the devel opment of such a process would
requirefurther discussion. Regarding the issue of an annex for arbitra-

member of the CCD, said that, as a matter of principle, such costs
should not be borne by the UN regular budget but solely by Parties to
the CCD on a voluntary basis. She added that language introduced in
the US Congress proposes withholding its proportionate share of
conference servicing costs for all conventions funded from the UN
regular budget, and that if such language were to become law, the US
would fall even further behind in its regular budget payments to the
UN. She stressed parity with the sister conventions, noted that similar
language was not adopted during FCCC COP-4, and said the related
paragraph should have been dropped. She requested that her stateme
be reflected in the COP-2 report.

DIALOGUE WITH NGOS: Two COW sessions at COP-2 were
devoted to dialogues with NGOs. The first session, which took place
on Thursday, 3 December, focused on issues related to traditional
knowledge. The second session, which took place on Thursday, 10
December, focused on the process of developing NAPs. The dialogue:
were organized around presentations by several NGOs, followed by
comments from the floor.

During the dialogue on traditional knowledge, RIOD Mexico, the
Nigeria Environmental Study Team (NEST), and Conseil National de
Concertation des Ruraux (CNCR) Senegal discussed national actions
and plans, noting the importance of considering sustainable livelihood
activities in the NAP preparation process, the need to recognize small
producer organizations on the same basis as NGOs, the establishmen
of effective funding and co-management of resources, and the role of
NGOs in implementing NAPs. Environnement et développement
(Area-ED) from Algeria, Association des volontaires du développe-
ment (AVD) Burkina Faso, and Conseil des ONG d’Appui au Dével-
oppement (CONGAD) from Senegal spoke on partnership building,
stressing the need for: new partnerships on information and dissemina
tion of traditional knowledge; the establishment and enhancement of
partnerships between NGOs, civil society, women's groups and

tion and conciliation procedures, debate centered on the G-77/Chinasonal organizations; and the modalities of the partnerships in the

preference to create ad hoc experts group to discuss the issue andcontext of NAPs. Los Algarrobos of Argentina and Comité de Coordi-
refer it to COP-3 versus the EU/JUSCANZ preference for a Secretaraton des Actions des ONG au Mali made interventions on communi-
compilation of submissions for COP-3, taking into account other cation and research. They underlined the inter-linkage between
conventions' experiences. Egypt and China stressed that a compilathonmunication and participatory approaches and proposed including
of views alone was insufficient and that an open-ended working grangtitutional capacity building in national programmes. The role of
was indispensable for discussion. Syria said implementation of thereligion and religious institutions in facilitating participation was
Convention must occur first, particularly progress on the Global  noted. Pro natura of the Dominican Republic and the Salvadoran
Mechanism’s operation, and only then could the COP predict dispufnter of Appropriate Technology (CESTA) introduced the dialogue
that might arise and adopt appropriate procedures. on appropriate technologies. They stressed the need for: incorporating
The COP decision agrees to revisit the issue at COP-3, in light #faditional knowledge systems in CCD implementation; informed
the progress of negotiations on the same issue in other relevant erétion based on traditional knowledge and appropriate technology; and
ronmental conventions, and to consider the establishment of an opzfecord of traditional practices to facilitate appropriately evaluated
endedad hoc group to examine and make recommendations on thesolutions. Discussants ap_plauded the role women play in arid areas, a:
issue, taking into account the document prepared by the Secretarigresented by representatives of women'’s groups from Cameroon and
OTHER MATTERS: In addition to its agenda items, the COP Senegal, not only in the guidance of culture but also in ensuring the
considered other issues raised by delegates and adopted two decigigRiity of complex systems. They noted the urgency to protect
and one resolution on them. The COP unanimously adopted a resd¥@men’s know-how and address desertification, which threatens the
tion expressing solidarity with Central America over the devastatiof@Sources on which their activities are based, and stressed the role of
caused by Hurricane Mitch. The resolution invites the internationalNGOS as facilitators of access by women at all levels.
community to contribute to the reconstruction and provide humani- _During the second dialogue on the NAP process, Sweden urged
tarian assistance. It urges all governments, UN agencies, IGOs, NGIGE)s to encourage developing country Parties to clearly identify their
the private sector and society to offer technical and financial assistdtgities. ENDA recommended information promotion and awareness
to the effective execution of the national action plans of the affectedaising strategies to facilitate local community involvement. He also
countries and subregional programmes for combating desertificatit¥ted that the dependence of coordinating mechanisms on external
The COP adopted, as an annex to the COP-2 report, the ReportiBancing compromises long-term viability. The Women’s Caucus of
the Round Table of Parliamentarians, which includes the DeclaratifiOD said women have been heavily involved in NAP preparation in

of the CCD. tion to women's voices at all levels. SCOPE/RIOD-Asia highlighted
The COP also adopted a decision on administrative and suppoff}€ N€€d to explore ways to mobilize community-based organizations
arrangements for the Secretariat, including interim arrangements. THREOS) 10 participate in implementing the CCD and noted that NGOs

decision calls on the UN General Assembly to finance from the UNC&1 Play arole in linking CBOs with national and international
regular programme budget the conference servicing costs arising frgmmunities. EcoNews Africa identified ways to enhance local

sessions of the COP and its subsidiary bodies for the period of thei?f‘pacﬁl" inc(ljuldingl ilmpr?_vefd Ioc?l_ ns:t;\t/v?_rks, agsistar;ce tohwomen and
D ; : e ; o strengthened local-level informal institutions. On partnership arrange-
institutional linkage. The US, in anticipation of becoming an active ments, the German Working Group on Desertification noted that the



Monday, 14 December 1998 e Earth NegotiationsBulletin Vol. 4 No. 127 Page 8

concerned institutions’ legal status, policy mandates, operational which the indicators should be tested and to which they should apply
levels, and financial and human resources generally determine pariierNetherlands asked if thd hoc panel considered how to use feed-
ships. On the experience of NAPs and civil society in Central Asiarback from monitoring.

countries, RIOD-Central Asia highlighted the CCD's unique call fora The decision contains several comments on the report ad thae
wide range of civil society participation at all stages of NAPs and  panel, including notes regarding the need for a harmonized approac
expressed concern over the lack of NGO participation in the NAP with other conventions and relevant organizations and suggesting th
process in the region. The Network of Sustainable Development fofhe CST focus on programmes that build on national/local capacities
Africa recalled NGOs' historical role in the whole CCD process,  develop and use indicators. The decision also recommends: request
noting the importance of building partnership between governmentsie COP to endorse the methodological framework for impact indica:
and NGOs. Youth for Action (India) summarized the dialogue and tors proposed by the panel, pending their testing and validation;
presented four NGO recommendations: awareness-raising workshapiing governments to initiate testing the impact indicators; and
and pilot projects at the local level; a special NGO dialogue sessioRatouraging countries in a position to provide assistance to initiate
CST-3; political will and support to integrate local communities andtesting. Delegates also called for representatives of the Convention
women with the NAP process; and convening an NGO preparatoryannex regions to present to CST-4 their experience in applying impa
meeting before COP-3. indicators to permit evaluation and refinement of the methodology.

COMMITTEE ON SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY BODIESPERFORMING WORK SIMILAR TO THE CST:

- : Tuesday, 1 December, the CST considered this issue. The Secre
The Committee on Science and Technology (CST) met from 1 t& : ’ ’ : .
December. Mohammad Reza Jabbari (Iran) served as Chair of the; %at introduced document ICCD/COP(2)/CST/4, which compiles

- : - formation provided by various institutions and conventions about
CST. Delegates elected Guido Soto (Chile), Samuel Mutiso (Keny, ; P : S
and Linda Brown (UK) as Vice-Chairs. Delegates agreed that roups doing work similar to that envisaged for the CST. He invited

Romania, the remaining CCD Party from Eastern Europe without add|t|torés ort%c_)rr_ectlor!s, ‘.’;’h'Ch Some deI(tegEates gﬁ?r?ﬁ. Thfe dec;sor
COP-2 Bureau seat, could nominate the fourth Vice-Chair, but sucagéip ead on this Issue Invites governments o update the information

nomination did not take place. Linda Brown also served as Rappor tained in Secretariat reports on this subject. The first draft of the

The Committee developed draft decisions on the roster of experts, ision also requested the Secretariat to "pursue” potential areas o
: P .~ ='cooperation between the CCD and other conventions and organiza-

survey and evaluation of existing networks, benchmarks and indic fons. The UK supported a more precise definition of what the Secre-

tors, bodies performing work similar to the CST, traditional knowl!- ..~ : "

edge, and the CST-3 programme of work. tariat would do, and delegates requested the Secretariat to "update t

information on" potential f tion.
ROSTER OF EXPERTS: On Tuesday, 1 December, CST dele- ' onna 0N 0N Polential areas of sooperation

RADITIONAL KNOWLEDGE: On Wednesday, 2 December,
gates evaluated the roster of experts (ICCD/COP(2)/11 and Add.1) ST considered traditional knowledge. The Syn>(l)psis of Reports
considered whether to make recommendations regarding its develgp- raditional Knowledge (ICCD/COP(2)/CST/5) summarized contri
ment. Several delegates noted the absence of the names they subifii -4% s from 12 Parties and 5 observers and served as a starting poi

or that full addresses, including electronic addresses, were mssmﬁig he CST's day-long discussion. CENESTA (Center for Ecodevel-

from the roster. The Secretariat said the roster would have to be co ent Studies and Application), speaking on behalf of the NGO

ually updated and noted that the format for submissions is not alw. rking Group on the CST, highlighted several points that delegates
;c:}lovgi?égvggckf;ncr?grtesiSﬁ}lg);?oa;]r;dc;rr]lcuc;rg[())Ifettﬁeerr:)télt%?. France also emphasized. She pointed out traditional knowledge's prominen:
99 ASKINg 1o . SN in the planning and implementation of NAPs, the need for synergy
The decision invites Parties to supplement their submissions fopetween local knowledge systems and modern science, and for part
the roster to ensure that under-represented areas are addressed, iferships between scientists and local experts. On links between trac
particular in terms of gender equity, better representation of relevagibna| and modern technology, to which many speakers referred, the
disciplines, and increasing representation of experts from NGOs ag  said they form a continuum. Morocco stressed the synergies in
10s. The draft also requests the Secretariat to make available an - ¢ompining traditional and modern technologies. Finland and Spain
updated roster in electronic and hard copy formats. ~ suggested using modern technologies to improve traditional knowl-
SURVEY AND EVALUATION: The CST considered this topic edge.
on Tuesday, 1 December. UNEP reported to the CST that, as requested,ymper of speakers highlighted findings from related reports,
in Decision 23/COP.1, it is establishing agreements with other congpgjects or technologies. The Secretariat highlighted its ongoing
tium members to conduct the survey of existing networks, institutiogmpilation of traditional knowledge in certain subregions, which will
agencies and bodies. He also reported that a questionnaire would Bgscrihe the techniques and note the extent to which they are transfe
distributed before the end of COP-2 and the final report is expectedffle ' A number of countries highlighted their experiences and exper
July 1999 for review at COP-3. The UK and Egypt expressed disapjse in this regard. WMO suggested developing a list of available

pointment that UNEP's report was not written and that delegations%ut‘);lications. Additional proposals for further CST action included the
therefore could not deal with the issue until COP-3. Delegates adopieflification of threats to traditional knowledge, the importance of

the CST Chair's draft decision on this issue, requesting UNEP to e¥@cation and communication to perpetuate traditional knowledge,

dite the survey and evaluation in conformity with its COP-1 mandaig, the need to coordinate with other conventions. Delegates noted
and to submit a report to COP-3. It also requests UNEP to submit tgggijple threats to traditional knowledge, including modern tech-
CST-3 a methodology for carrying out the second and third phasesncgbgy’ population growth, marginalization of women, poverty, bio-
the survey and evaluation. invasions and climate change (Tanzania); economic change or pres-
BENCHMARKSAND INDICATORS: On Tuesday, 1 sures (Brazil and Niue); and wars and civil strife (Senegal and Chad)
December, the Secretariat introduced the report aithec panel on  The UK also suggested considering linkages between traditional
benchmarks and indicators (lCCD/COP(Z)/CST/B and Addl), Whlq‘(ihow|edge and the UNEP-led survey of networks.
was established at COP-1 and met twice during the past year. Over 20rne CST Chair's summary of the discussion on traditional knowl-
participants took the floor to propose testing or implementing the ¢ 4ge notes that delegates' comments included suggestions to make
methodology for impact indicators, note the importance of financiaj,yentories, compile and share relevant information, exchange expe
assistance and capacity building to do so, and/or discuss their eXp%Hb(?s, and establish communication networks to improve informatio
ence testing them. Germany proposed testing indicators on the natigiglsg that beneficiaries are ensured of access. Delegates also emj
level that could be appropriate with little input from external sources;,aq the need to develop synergies and to integrate traditional know

The UK and Japan suggested that the work be harmonized with Sindégfe with modern technologies while addressing: intellectual proper
work under other conventions. Delegates also discussed the level on



Voal. 4 No. 127 Page 9

Monday, 14 December 1998

rightsimplications; harnessing the positive attributes of traditional
knowledge; socio-economic benefitsfrom traditional knowledge; and
their integration with NAPs. To respond to key threatsto traditional
knowledge, delegatesidentified several broad measures, including:
creating an enabling environment for women; identifying and devel-
oping synergies and complementarity among relevant conventions;
elaborating and implementing the NAPsto improve living conditions,
particularly at the community level; and introducing traditional knowl-
edge education in all sectors of society.

Delegates closed their discussion on traditional knowledge with
consideration of whether to create an ad hoc group and what its
composition and mandate should be. Several G-77/Chinacountries,
including Egypt, Brazil, Kenya, Mauritaniaand Sudan, supported a
panel to carry forward projectsidentified during the discussion.
Severa EU countriesaswell as Japan, the US, Switzerland, Kazakstan
and Kyrgyzstan did not believe an ad hoc panel under the CST wasthe
best place to accomplish the work and questioned whether al of the
work identified was necessary. They supported identifying waysto
increase access to information and networking to assist implementa-
tion of NAPs.

Following asecond discussion on the panel on Friday, 4 December,
CST Chair Jabbari concluded that asignificant number of CST
members supported establishing apanel and asked del egatesto discuss
itsterms of reference. The UK supported exploring linkages between
the CST and other conventions work on traditional knowledge, and

supported Malawi's call for policy reform to match institutional
arrangements. CILSS called for strengthening scientific capacity and
facilitating access to it by local communities.

Based on this discussion, the CST Chair presented delegates with
draft decision that identified the priority issue, noted that the CST-3
agenda would include topics on the CST-2 agenda, and requested the
Secretariat to facilitate two intersessional extended Bureau meetings.
The Chair proposed that CST-3 consider early warning systems.
Several speakers, including the WMO, the UK, the G-77/China,
Malawi and Sudan, supported the proposal. Egypt said early warning
systems would entail too technical a discussion for CST delegates and
proposed food security. Brazil, the UK, Saudi Arabia and the Nether-
lands noted the importance of soil and water management, with the
Netherlands highlighting synergies with the UN Commission on
Sustainable Development’s (CSD) work programme. The UK and
Germany expressed concern about the cost of two extended Bureau
meetings and proposed one meeting of the Bureau only. The Chair
proposed indicating that early-warning systems "in its broadest sense”
be considered by CST-3.

During discussion of a revised draft decision in Plenary on
Monday, 7 December, the EU proposed adding "water and soil
management" as a topic for CST-3 and indicating that the interses-
sional Bureau meeting should be held "within existing resources."
Switzerland proposed a new paragraph calling on Parties to submit
contributions on their own experiences with early-warning systems to

preparing and presenting to the next meeting of the CBD’s Subsidi&ayilitate discussion at CST-3. Delegates deferred adoption of the deci-
Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice (SBSTTA) sion until the closing Plenary.

report on traditional knowledge in dryland ecosystems drawing on

The final decision decides that CST-3 address "early-warning

CST-2 discussions and the Secretariat's ongoing compilation. Egygystems in its broadest sense" as the priority issue. In presenting the
proposed that the panel assess socio-economic impacts and waysgfagsion, CST Chair Jabbari said this would include water manage-
means of integrating traditional and modern knowledge. With Cubanent and protection. The decision also requests the Secretariat to faci
and Kenya, he suggested that the Secretariat explore the linkagesitate at least one intersessional Bureau meeting within existing
between the CST and other conventions so the panel could focus @8sources and invites Parties to submit contributions by 30 June 1999

these issues.

regarding experiences with early-warning systems as well as with

After informal consultations, delegates agreed that the panel wagdcialized institutions in this field to facilitate preparations.

draw on the synthesis report being compiled by the Secretariat an
identify and report to CST-3 successful experiences and conclusio
relating to: threats and other constraints, including socio-economic

TERPARLIAMENTARY ROUND TABLE
On Monday, 7 December, 35 parliamentarians from 21 countries,

impacts confronting such traditional knowledge and practices; strafdlo international organizations and one NGO, as well as COP _
gies for integrating traditional knowledge and local knowledge withobservers, participated in morning and afternoon sessions of a Parlia-
modern knowledge based on specific case histories; and mechanigaggitary Round Table. At the invitation of the CCD Secretariat, the
for promoting and exchanging successful approaches. The decisidNational Assembly of Senegal and the Inter-Parliamentary Union,
also requests the Secretariat to complete its compilation of traditioh@Presentatives discussed the process of and the contribution they
knowledge and explore ways to link the CST's work on traditional could make to the Convention's implementation. Cheikh Abdoul
knowledge with that under other conventions. It requests UNEP to Kadre Cissokho, President of the National Assembly of Senegall,
address networks on traditional and local knowledge in its survey dihaired the discussion. Tana de Zulueta (ltaly), Ohki Hiroshi (Japan),
networks. During the closing Plenary, the following nominations fotiugo Andres Araujo de la Torre (Mexico) and Grant Chapman

thead hoc panel were accepted: Maria Urquiza (Cuba); Juan TorregAustralia) served as Vice-Presidents and Jean Ziegler (Switzerland)
Guevara (Peru); Mohammed Shatanawi (Jordan); Sunita Narain served as Rapporteur.

(India); Michael Tim Hoffman (South Africa); Samuel Osman Saaka

In the Dakar Declaration, the parliamentarians affirmed their

(Ghana); Jean Claude Bomba (Central Africa); Ashot Vartevanian commitment to contribute fully to the implementation of the CCD by,
(Armenia); Christiaan Rey Philip (Germany); and Corinne Wacker inter alia: supporting legislation concerning the fight against desertifi-

(Switzerland). Jean Claude Bomba will serve as coordinator.
FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME OF THE CST: On

cation; subscribing to the promotion of policies and the strengthening
of institutional frameworks for the favorable development of coopera-

Thursday, 3 December, the CST considered its final issue, the futuf®n among affected countries; supporting the strengthening of social
work programme. The UK, supported by many, proposed selectingkcies and education, health and public awareness; and subscribing
institutional and one substantive/technical issue to be considered & the initiatives of agencies, donor countries and civil societies to
each session. She said institutional issues could include training, increase financial assistance to promote sustainable development in

research and transfer of technology and substantive aspects couldTagile ecosystems.

include dryland management, drought early-warning systems, and

They undertook to promote: the formulation of national legislation

water and soil management. Additional proposed topics included and harmonization with the provisions of the Convention; integration
gender issues, the incorporation of water and land management intd the fight against desertification in national agendas as well as those
national policies, water collection technology, desertification mappiniyegional and subregional organizations; the formulation of action

technologies, and capacity building.

programmes in affected developing countries; and the adoption of

Additional issues raised in the discussion included France, Turlggctical measures to include environmental protection disciplines.
and Senegal's suggestion that existing training and research centef§€y issued an urgent appeal to: financial and business entities world-
should be strengthened over establishing new ones. Several speakéfi$ to support the mobilization of financial resources to combat



Monday, 14 December 1998 e Earth NegotiationsBulletin Voal. 4 No. 127 Page 10

desertification; academic institutions, the scientific community and conventions (ICCD/COP(2)/L.34); and

research centres to support the various tasks of implementing the * resolution of questions regarding implementation and annexes or
Convention in affected devel oping countries; and the CCD Secretariat arbitration and conciliation procedures (ICCD/COP(2)/L.33).

to continue actionstaken up in support of affected countries. The COP eventually adopted these decisions and delegates offel

INFORMAL EXCHANGE OF VIEWS ON NAPS

to the COP-2 agenda, an informal session was scheduled on Friday, 4
December. Over 100 participants gathered for the two-hour exchange.
Two presentations were offered, following which participants
reflected on their experiences with NAP processes. UNSO/UNDP
presented "A Preliminary Overview of National Action Programme
Processes of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertifica-
tion" and Sweden discussed indicatorsfor asuccessful NAP processes,
including thelevel of popular participation in the process and the

the following comments during the adoption of specific decisions.

On outstanding recommendations from the CST (ICCC/COP2/L..
Rev.1), CST Chair Jabbari noted that the draft decision was a result
intense consultations and reflects the consensus reached. He said tt
the theme chosen for COP-3 is "early-warning systems in its broade:
sense," which includes water management and protection. Chair
Jabarri also announced the experts recommended by regional grouy
to constitute aad hoc group on traditional knowledge. The list was
adopted.

Regarding the decision on administrative and support arrange-

Based on the EU’s proposal to add an exchange of viewson NAPs

degreeto which the NAPisintegrated into institutionsand central ments for the Secretariat, the US noted its inability to accept operati\
budgets. paragraph 3 on financing of conference servicing costs from the UN

regular budget, stating that as a matter of principle Parties to conven
tions should meet the costs voluntarily. She stressed parity with the

positive and constructive involvement of civil society, particuIarIgghoegtéﬁodﬁ:?ng%%’g?:t'ggspa_‘zd noted that similar language was not
women; :

challenges to civil society involvement, including governments' . On designation of a Permanent Secretariat, Germany requested
9 Y 9¢g Q%%t the report of the Plenary reflect that the headquarters agreemen

response to the expectations that the participatory process cre o k
the importance of coordination between existing programmes aabw ly to be ratified in early 1999 and that the agreement provides for

active involvement and support from the people: e equal treatment of the Secretariats of the CCD and FCCC.

the need to address resistance by government administrations to  The draft decision on programme and budget medium-term
the direct involvement of people and for government departmengérategy of the Secretariat requests the Executive Secretary to elabo

Among theissues participants discussed were:
the possibilities for creating enabling structures allowing for

to develop horizontal coordination of plans; rate a new document and invites Parties to make submissions by 30
the need for better coordination within the donor community andpril 1999. The G-77/China noted that the compendium referred to ir
its Stronger involvementin all Stages of NAPS; and the decision should include document |CCD/COP(2)/6 concerning th

the need to build subregional programmes on the basis of comphgedium-term strategy and the comments, suggestions and proposa

mentarity, effective exploitation of comparative advantages andexpressed by delegations during COP-2 as well as written contribu-
subsidiarity. tions submitted by 30 April 1999. He requested language in the draft

decision to reflect that it is this compendium that would be submitted

CLOSING PLENARY to COP-3. GRULAC said the strategy should be considered very

The closing Plenary convened on Friday, 11 December to adophecessary so that the Secretariat may fulfill its mandate clearly, effec

draft decisions submitted by the COW and the CST. COP Presidertively and efficiently and he called for consideration of all statements

Souty Touré presided over delegates’ consideration of: made on the subject. The decision was adopted.

the report of the Bureau on the credentials of delegates (ICCD/ The decision on the programme of work for COP-3 calls for a
COP(2)/13); _ _ review of,inter alia, reports on implementation of affected African

the recommendation of the CST on its programme of work country Parties and progress made in the formulation and implemen
(ICCD/COP(2)/L.3/Rev.1); _ tion of SRAPs and RAPS in Africa. COP-4 and, if necessary, COP-5
aresolution on solidarity with Central America (ICCD/COP (2)/ will review reports on implementation in affected country Parties and
L.7); ) i the formulation and implementation of SRAPs and RAPSs for regions
administrative and support arrangements for the Secretariat, other than Africa. The decision on ordinary sessions of the COP stat
including interim arrangements (ICCD/COP(2)/L.30); that the fifth session shall take place in 2001 and, thereafter, ordinan
the report on the Round Table of Parliamentarians (ICCD/COP(g¥ssions shall be held every two years.

L.40); Regarding the regional implementation annexes, the EU said tha

outstanding rules of procedure (ICCD/COP(2)/L.35 and L.42); \yhjle the COP has taken useful further steps to strengthen regional
the designation of a Permanent Secretariat and arrangements fgpoperation, the facilitating role of the Executive Secretary should ne
its functioning (ICCD/COP(2)/L.31); . lead to the creation of new institutional structures. The G-77/China
programme and budget, including adjustment to the Convent'Oréequested inclusion in the report of the meeting that they supported t

budget and programme for 1999 (ICCD/COP(2)/L.28), review 0k ecretariat’s initiatives to facilitate the implementation of regional
the extrabudgetary funding situation (ICCD/COP(2)/3 and implementation annexes and cooperation.

Add.1), medium-term strategy of the Secretariat ICCD/COP(2)/" "¢ gecision on the Global Mechanism (ICCD/COP(2)/L.43) and
IC_ZS?") gn/dL %rogaa[ngée_of work for COP-3and COP-4 (ICCD/ 1, the MOU between the COP and IFAD on the GM (ICCD/COP(2)/
P(2) fih an e ); ati fthe C tion. includi L.44) were accepted without amendments. The decision on the revie
review ot the implementation ot the Lonvention, inciuding of the Global Mechanism notes with concern that the Global Mecha-
regional implementation annexes and interregional programmegah, 4id not start operating on 1 January 1998, as indicated in Deci-
platforms of cooperation (ICCD/COP(2)/L.12/Rev.1), regional sion 24/COP.1; requests IFAD to pursue modalities of collaboration

cooperation between countries of Eastern and Central Europe . : : :
(ICCDICOP(2)/L.32), procedures for the communication of inforbetween itself and the NGO community as well as with other intereste

" . . : organizations; requests the Global Mechanism to establish a consult
mation and review of implementation (ICCD/COP(2)/L.37) and ;; ; : ; :
review of implementation of the Convention (ICCD/COP(2)/ tive and collaborative process with NGOs as well as with the private

sector; requests cooperation between the Global Mechanism and th

L.39); Convention Secretariat to avoid duplicati i
> . plication and enhance the effectiv
rLexlg\évn%fterr)e_port of the Global Mechanism (ICCD/COP(2)/ a5 of the CCD implementation; notes the financial support provide

gn a voluntary basis and reiterates its appeal to governments, all inte

promotion and strengthening of relationships with other relevan sted organizations and the private sector to make promptly further



Vol. 4 No. 127 Page 11 e Earth Negotiations Bulletin Monday, 14 December 1998

voluntary commitments necessary to support the activities; and participate as Parties at COP-3. Haiti, on behalf of GRULAC, noted

decidesto undertake at COP-3, thefirst review of thepolicies, opera-  the importance of holding the conference in Africa. He supported

tional modalities and activities of the Global Mechanism and take establishing links with other conventions. Iran, on behalf of the Asian

appropriate action on thisbasis. Group, expressed thanks to the Government and people of Senegal fo
The decision onthe MOU between the COPand IFAD regarding  their hospitality.

the modalities and administrative operations of the Global Mechanism Prime Minister Mamadou Lamine Loum said it was his pleasure to

transmitsto COP-3 the draft decision (ICCD/COP(2)/L.19) submitted  attend the meeting on behalf of the President of Senegal. He said the

by the G-77/Chinaand calls on those to whom the draft MOU is promises of future ratifications demonstrate the richness and quality of

addressed to act, pending its entry into operation, “as if it were alretidyCOP's deliberations and that the decisions offer serious possibili-

there.” ties for buttressing the NAPs. He thanked the UN system for the honor

During Plenary adoption, Canada, speaking on behalf of the OEZEStowed on his country and said Senegal will leave no stone unturnec
countries, regretted that the decision on the MOU was not adoptedid-nsure that the CCD is implemented. He declared COP-2 closed at
proposed textual amendments, which the G-77/China said contravéiéd pm.
the language set out in the Convention.

Benin read a revised version of the draft decision noting the COP's A BRIEF ANALYSISOF COP-2
gratitude to the Government and people of Senegal for having made p hips b . f | CCD imol
COP-3 possible (ICCD/COP(2)/L.41), extending thanks for the warm ar(tj”grs Ips gt";’]ee” ava”eggpa;t.OfSDPLOpeD | Imp Oﬁme”ta' y
welcome allotted to all participants, and requesting the President otrlf]ﬂ%an ominated the scene at -2 In Dakar. Delegates discusse
COP to convey to the President of Senegal the thanks of the COP e importance of bottom-up approaches and involvement at all levels

- - : by all relevant actors, but their deliberations revealed different
Bg:ggfgnézr;o%n?nvelg?t%eésgg?&yp?gggﬁ?awoenproceedlngs and for B‘e[%jspectives on how the Convention should actually facilitate the trans-

) . . lation of the theory of partnerships into action. The CCD COP faces a
The COP President then delivered a summary of the Special - 5ancing act of communicating with, fostering and learning from actors
Segment, highlighting speakers' reports on contributions their cou

or organization can make and is making to implement the CCD. H the ground while remaining an international coordinating body. To

ccomplishits goals, it relies on horizontal partnerships ranging from

noted that many called attention to the delay in implementation of t %:ngements between the regional implementation annex countries an

Global Mechanism and stressed the need to render it operational §iihionships with related conventions, for example, to vertically
Zome Cf‘lled Ok” the lGE'; tFl’ S§°h“|qe]f the CIOStSr?f mplemsgtgtlon. 4 reaching partnerships between the COP, national governments and locz
everal speakers also hailed the informal exchange on NAPS and |6, g| 4¢torsThe difference of opinion as to how this balance should be
supported the proposal to define commitments following the review({, . siowed some work at COP-2 but related discussions may serve a
action programmes. _ a foundation for building effective partnerships under the Convention.
COP-2 Rapporteur Samvel Baloyan (Armenia) presented the - This analysis highlights ways in which some of these partnerships took
report of the session (ICCD/COP(2)/L.29 and Corr.1). He noted thahim and shaped COP-2.
is procedural in nature and will be completed following the meeting. INTERGOVERNMENTAL PARTNERSHIPS: Intergovern-
Deleglates adopted the report and authorized the Rapporteurto o nta| cooperation at the COP level is a prime area where partnership:
complete It. , . _ _ must be operational if the CCD is to be effectively implemented. In
Senegalese Prime Minister Mamadou Lamine Loum presided Q¥ regard, the continuing debate between the CCD's particularity to
the closing of COP-2. Executive Secretary Diallo congratulated delgfrica while at the same time being a global convention remains a
gates for exchanging views regarding implementation of the CCD ap@ning force. The African Group’s decision to emphasize this particu-
taking important decisions that show the importance participants giity held up the start of COP-1 by two days, but delegates did not
to the Convention. He emphasized the important role that NGOs hgj¢g,y their deliberations at COP-2 on this point. Their decision was
played in the whole CCD process, a unique feature of the CCD. Hepgicative of COP-2 participants’ recognition of the need to focus on
assured delegations that the Secretariat will do everything possibleqpementation and avoid situations that might deter their ability to
implement the CCD and called for the international community andcooperate. On the first day of COP-2, the African Group repeated its
civil society to contribute to thisend. _ COP-1 request for three Bureau seats, which would have created the
_Indonesia, on behalf of the G-77/China, emphasized the partnesame problem COP-1 faced. However, in Dakar there was no option of
ship that both his group and its partners enjoyed during the sessionéndorarily filling the empty East European seat with an extra repre-
called for international cooperation on financial support and tech- sentative from Africa, given that three Parties from Eastern Europe
nology transfer. He also commended IFAD and the Secretariat on thgiticipated in COP-2. The African Group's Presidency of the COP
efforts to prepare the MOU and expressed the hope that Global Megh@desire to host a successful session offered a solution to the issue.
nism will be fully operational by COP-3. Austria, on behalf of the Edwo African delegates were elected to the Bureau, although the Group
expressed pleasure that the COP began promptly and said the solinigiBated the decision did not imply a renunciation of their intention to
on budgetary matters leaves his group optimistic for the future. He $@ildl three Bureau seats at future COPs.
the informal exchange on NAPs resulted in a detailed dialogue and A second indication of participants’ desire to proceed with the
fruitful way to progress. He expressed regret that a decision was nefeliberations was the immediate assurancettiesappearance of
reached on the decision on convention implementation and NAP cg@psons from Taiwan during the opening ceremony would not distract
eration, said the EU countries remain committed to facilitating actigsities from their deliberations. The host country expressed regret for
through their development agencies in dialogue with affected counge appearance and affirmed that UN resolutions and rules would be
tries, and called for this issue to be treated at COP-3. He stressed lgserved, and the COP proceeded to tackle its agenda.
importance of strict attention to rules and tasks of the CCD andits ~ Epr oM THE BOTTOM UP: While intergovernmental partner-

bodies to malntaln a cooperative atmosphere. , ships did not feature as prominently as they did at COP-1, a number of
Armenia, on behalf of the Eastern European countries, tha”,keO!?éhes regarding other partnerships did emerge. The need to engage &
regional groups for supporting the launching of a new regional impl@terested actors at all levels is standard rhetoric for those engaged in
mentation annex for Central and Eastern European countries. Ca CD process. However, different approaches to how the COP can
on behalf of JUSCANZ, said his group hopes to continue the discugsgilitate action on the ground under the auspices of an international
sion on the medium-term strategy and implementation of NAPS, cqordinating body for action on desertification were evident in the
keeping a focus on people in the field. He noted that one country ind¥sp-2 deliberations. Many OECD countries found the CO®sis
group became a Party to the CCD during COP-2 and said more Mayserandi to be out of sync with its objectives. As an example of this



Monday, 14 December 1998 e Earth NegotiationsBulletin Voal. 4 No. 127 Page 12

divergence, they pointed to delegates’ discussions about bottom-up deferred decisions from COP-2 resulted more from differences in
approaches that resulted in recommendationsfor panelsor studies, emphasis on partnership building strategies rather than from differ-
which they believed to be top-down solutions. Their emphasison ences in objectives. To this end, intersessional activities, active
National Action Programmeswas intended to surmount thistrap and nurturing of partnerships and continuation of a dialogue between all
focus on specific actions and mainstream the issue in devel opment actors is essential to the success of the CCD.

processes through partnership arrangements. Some believed the EU-

proposed draft decision on implementation and NAPswas directed to _

thisend. The G-77/China, by contrast, stressed the need to takea THINGSTO LOOK FOR BEFORE COP-3

holistic approach to implementation and thus did not support some of JOINT NGO-GOVERNMENT INITIATIVE TO ADDRESS

the OECD countries’ singular focus on local level implementation ddNDERLYING CAUSESOF DEFORESTATION AND FOREST

its draft decision on implementation and NAPs. DEGRADATION: This meeting, which will be held in Costa Rica

ADVANCING VERTICAL PARTNERSHIPS: This difference  from 18-22 January 1999, will contribute to the UN Intergovernmenta
Secretariat support for activities at the regional level. Most participantdione Lovera; e-mail: slovera@nciucn.nl.
do not envision the Secretariat as an implementing body. The OECD EXPERT GROUPMEETING ON INTERNATIONAL
countries particularly desire to keep the Secretariat’s activiies =~ ARRANGEMENTSAND MECHANISMSTO PROMOTE THE
focussed on horizontal partnerships rather than vertical ones, as tHd ANAGEMENT, CONSERVATION AND SUSTAINABLE
Secretariat's regional and national level activities might imply. The BEVELOPMENT OF ALL TYPESOF FOREST S: The meeting is
77/China, however, support a role for the Secretariat as a sponsor ®heduled to be held in February in San Jose, Costa Rica. For more
regional and national meetings and regional coordinating units. Suttormation, contact: Patricia Chavez, Permanent Mission of Costa
meetings or units reach below the top, international level of actors,Bige to the United Nations; tel: +1-212-986-6373; fax: +1-212-986-
may not result immediately in the concrete actions that some OECB842.
countries emphasized. Supporters see these meetings and unitsas RIOD GLOBAL MEETING: This meeting is tentatively sched-
useful ways to engage actors closer to the local level, while others died in March 1999, in Dakar, Senegal. For further information,
not think the action will trickle down that far. contact ENDA at: fax: +221-8217595; e-mail: masselo@enda.sn.

COP-2’s efforts to involve parliamentarians and NGOs, particu- SEVENTH CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIESTO THE
larly through their network, RIOD, provide positive examples of hoRAM SAR CONVENTION: The meeting will be held in San Jose,
the CCD COP and Secretariat can advance vertical partnerships wdsta Rica, from 10-18 May 1999. For more information, contact:
remaining an international facilitative body. The COP-2 experienceRamsar Convention Bureau, Rue Mauverney 28, CH-1196 Gland,
saw NGO presentations on activities and concerns at the local levebwitzerland; tel: +41-22-999-0170; fax: +41-22-999-0169; e-mail:
Unlike the NGO forum at COP-1, whose tone some found to be mammsar@hg.iucn.org; Internet: http://www.iucn.org/themes/ramsar/
provocative, these fora embodied the spirit of dialogue with a focusrafex.html.
possible ways to enhance collaboration with governments. This couldSECOND INTERNATIONAL CONEFERENCE ON ECOSYS-
be attributed to NGOs feeling more secure with their involvement imrEM SAND SUSTAINABL E DEVELOPMENT: The meeting will
the COP and the recognition of their important role and the input they held in Lemnos, Greece, from 31 May-2 June 1999. For more infc
can have in shaping the process. However, some participants felt thgation, contact: Wessex Institute of Technology; tel: +44-1703-
presentations fell short of providing concrete insights into how the 293223: fax: +44-1703-292853; e-mail: wit@wessex.ac.uk.
partnerships can be enacted within the framework of the ongoing COPr 4| RD SESSION OF THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL
negotiations and subsequentimplementation of the CCD. Nonethelesium ON FORESTS: The meeting will be held in Geneva from 3-
this was an essential step in charting a process of local level involves pmay 1999. For more information, contact: IFF Secretariat, Two U?
ment and assisting the COP to visualize CCD implementation and §187a “12th Floor, New York, NY 10017 USA: tel: +1-212-963-6208:

necessary framework to facilitate it. To this end, the COP will have {gy: +1-212-963-3463; e-mail: hurtubia@un.org; Internet: http:/
engage itself in elaborating an enabling environment for effective Www.un.org/esa/sustdev/iff.htm. ’

involvement of all stakeholders and interest groups. CULTIVATING OUR FUTURES: THE MULTIEUNC-

PARTNERSHIPSBETWEEN THE RIO CONVENTIONS: ~ T|oNAL CHARACTER OF AGRICULTURE AND LAND: The
Coordination across the board will be necessary to accomplish this-oo/Netherlands meeting will be held in Rome, Italy, in September
task. This need to identify an enabling environment at the internati 9. For further information. contact: Lucas Janssen. FAO/SDRN
level fits well with the repeated calls at COP-2 for synergies betwe&Rgle delle Terme di Caracalla 00100, Rome ltaly: tel: +39-6- '
the Rio conventions and coordination of their activities. Such coordi7053369: fax: +39-6-57055246: e-mail: agr99-conference@fao.orc
nation would not only result in resource efficiency but also, hopeful|yernet: hitp://WWW_fao_org/sd/aérggl )
stimulate tangible action. COP-2 participants recognized that the CCDrHIRD SESSION OF THE CONEERENCE OF THE

has a lot to offer the other conventions, especially if it is able to findos o1 ESTO THE UNITED NATIONS CONVENTION TO
how to balance international, national and local action as well as elis\1 BAT DESERTIEICATION: COP-3 is scheduled to be held in
ronmental and development objectives. The goal of such coordina@ilyie ‘Brayzil. from 15 — 26 November 1999. Preparatory meetings f
should be to provide an overarching framework under which partng¢tp 3 jncjude: Bureau meetings, the intersessional meeting of the
ships can be strengthened and pursued at all Ifrdsnodalities for g /o4, of the Committee on Science and Technology, and the meeti
such coordination promise to be the topic of further discussions as flighead hoc panel on traditional knowledge. For dates, venue or any
COP charts CCD implementation in the years to C.ome.. other information, contact the CCD Secretariat at: Geneva Executive
, TOWARD EFFECTIVE IMPLEMENTATION: While COP- Center, 11/13 Chemin des Anemones, 1219 Chatelaine, Geneva, Sv
2's decisions were not earth shattering, its deliberations served to Bighang: tel: +41-22- 979-9111: fax: +41-22- 979- 9030/31: e-mail:
light areas and partnerships that need reinforcement and further  secretariat@unccd.ch; Internet: http://Awww.unccd.ch. Effective in
opened opportunities for more representation in the process. Whe%@rrly 1999, the Secretariat can be reached at: PO Box 260129, Hau
COP-3 delegates will be able to steer away from sensitive issues th& stanjen, D-53153 Bonn, Germany; tel: +49-228-8152800; fax:

emerged in COP-1 and continued at COP-2 remains to be seen. Deley.p28-8152899; e-mail: secretariat@unccd.de; Internet:http://
gates’ high regard for the informal dialogue on implementation of }Q/ww.unccd.de.
er

NAPs and dialogues with NGOs show a way forward as they consi
the ways and means to accomplish their goals. The deadlocks and



